
Vale of White Horse District Council 
Scrutiny Committee agenda - Monday, 5 February 2024 

 Page 1 

Agenda 

 
Contact: Candida Basilio, Democratic Services 
Telephone number: 07895 213820 
Email: candida.basilio@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 26 January 2024 
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

 

 

A meeting of the  

Scrutiny Committee 

will be held on Monday, 5 February 2024 at 6.30 pm  
Abbey House, Abbey Close, Abingdon OX14 3JE 
 

This meeting will be streamed live, and can be watched by following this link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings/streams 

 
 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors:  
Katherine Foxhall (Chair) 
Judy Roberts (Vice Chair) 
Ron Batstone 
Hayleigh Gascoigne 
James Cox 
Oliver Forder 
Debby Hallett 
Robert Maddison 
Sally Povolotsky 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read.  For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the 
officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 
 
 
Vivien Williams,  
Head of Legal and Democratic (Interim) 

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/@SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings/streams


Vale of White Horse District Council 
Scrutiny Committee agenda - Monday, 5 February 2024 

 Page 2 

 

Agenda 

 

Open to the Public including the Press 
 

1. Apologies for absence  
  
  
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.   
 

2. Urgent business and chair's announcements  
  
  
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent, and 
to receive any announcements from the chair.   
 

3. Declaration of interests  
  
  
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests and 
non-registrable interests or any conflicts of interest in respect of items on the agenda for 
this meeting.  
 

4. Minutes of the last meeting  
(Pages 4 - 24)  
  
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Scrutiny Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on 2 November 2023 and 5 December 2023. 
 

5. Public participation  
  
  
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered to 
speak.   
 

6. Work schedule and dates for all Vale and Joint scrutiny meetings  
(Pages 25 - 27)  
  
To review the attached scrutiny work schedule. Please note, although the dates are confirmed, the 
items under consideration are subject to being withdrawn, added to or rearranged without further 
notice. 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Vale of White Horse District Council 
Scrutiny Committee agenda - Monday, 5 February 2024 

 Page 3 

REPORTS AND ISSUES FOR THE CONSIDERATION OF THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
 

7. Budget setting report 2024/25  
  
  
For Scrutiny Committee to consider the report of the Head of Finance on Budget Setting 2024/25, 
and make any recommendations to Cabinet (papers to follow). 

 

8. Corporate Plan 2024-2028 - to agree an approach to the new 
corporate plan  

  
  
For Scrutiny Committee to consider and provide comments on the report of the Head of Policy and 
Programmes, on the Corporate Plan 2024 - 2028 approach. (Report to follow) 

 

9. Future direction of The Beacon, Wantage  
(Pages 28 - 234)  
  
Scrutiny Committee will be reviewing and providing feedback on the draft Cabinet report 
considering the Future Direction of The Beacon, Wantage. (Cabinet report and appendices are 
attached). 

 

10. Exclusion of the public  
  
  
To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that:  
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1-7 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and  
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.   
 
 
In this agenda item, Scrutiny Committee can consider confidential appendices from the report: 
Future direction of The Beacon, Wantage, if they require this. 

 
 

 



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes - Thursday, 2 November 2023  1 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the 

Scrutiny Committee 

 

 
held on Thursday, 2 November 2023 at 7.00 pm 
at Abbey House, Abbey Close, Abingdon OX14 3JE  
 
This meeting was streamed live. Access the recording here: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YMuTm0UTLcM 
 

Open to the public, including the press 
 

Present in the meeting room:  
Councillors: Katherine Foxhall (Chair), Judy Roberts (Vice-Chair), Hayleigh Gascoigne, 
Ron Batstone, Oliver Forder, Robert Maddison, James Cox, Kiera Bentley and 
Debby Hallett 
Officers: Candida Basilio (Democratic Services Officer), Simon Hewings (Head of 
Finance), Emma Turner (Enforcement Team Leader), Adrian Duffield (Head of Planning) 
and Andy Roberts (Communications and Engagement Manager) 
Guests:  
Cabinet Members: Councillor Andy Crawford (Finance and Property) and Councillor 
Diana Lugova (Planning and Development Management) 
 
Present online:  
Officers: Mark Minion (Head of Corporate Services), Adrianna Partridge (Deputy Chief 
Executive for Transformation and Operations), Richard Spraggett (Strategic Finance 
Officer) 
Guests: Cabinet Member – Councillor Lucy Edwards (Communications) 
 

1.     Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Amos Duveen. Councillor Debby Hallett was present as 
substitute. Apologies were also received from Councillor Sally Povolotsky. Councillor Kiera Bentley 
was present as substitute. 

 

2.     Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
There was no urgent business, but the chair ran through some housekeeping matters. 

 

3.     Declaration of interests  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 

4.     Minutes of the last meeting  
 
Resolved: 
Committee agreed that the minutes of the Vale scrutiny committee meeting held on 31 July 2023 
were a correct record, and the chair will sign them as such. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YMuTm0UTLcM


Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes - Thursday, 2 November 2023 2 

It was suggested that consideration should be given to the link between scrutiny and Cabinet, and 
a suggestion was made on forming a recommendation tracker. Chair explained that she attended 
Cabinet meetings to update them on scrutiny feedback, it was also added that Cabinet minutes 
were available. Cabinet receive a summary of recommendations and comments under an agenda 
item called “recommendations from other committees”. Democratic Services would take this 
discussion into consideration. 

 

5.     Work schedule and dates for all Vale and Joint scrutiny meetings  
 
The committee considered the work programme. 

 

6.     Public participation  
 
None. 

 

7.     Financial outturn report 2022-23  
 
The financial outturn report 2022/23 was presented by Cabinet member for  
Finance and Corporate Assets. Head of Finance and Strategic Finance Officer were also present 
to answer questions.  
The papers for consideration contained summarised schedules of revenue and capital expenditure 
for 2022/23; they also presented an explanation of the significant variances against budget. This 
was presented by service. All the figures in the report were preaudit and may be subject to change 
following the conclusion of the audit of the statement of accounts. 
 
Below is a summary of the discussion. 
 

 A member asked about the slippage on capital expenditure? – can we budget in year? It 
was explained that over the last two years effort had been on revenue. We are now 
challenging capital.  

 A member questioned whether there was mitigation in higher interest times. 

 Cabinet member was asked how he saw the council’s immediate financial health? Were 
there immediate concerns? Can scrutiny help? Cabinet member explained that reserves 
ran out in five years’ time. It was meant to be this year, so this is an improved position. We 
cannot increase council tax even though we are a low-cost council. We were in much better 
shape that 4 years ago.  

 Planning corporate transformation on page 11 – overspend on planning service – why was 
this? It was explained that this was actually an underachievement of income, the market 
cooled down for building so the department did not achieve the expected. The next budget 
will reflect this expectation. 

 Corporate transformation underspend – why was this underspend? Deputy Chief Executive 
for Transformation and Operations explained that there was a one-off budget about 750k 
carried forward for Planning, Customer Services, and grounds maintenance projects. There 
had been profiling of 16 projects, they had not been static and in 22/23 we chose to bring 
forward planning and changed the profile. IT systems will show in the budget in 23/24. A 
dedicated team was set up in 22/23 and naturally this takes time to settle in. 

 It was explained that refugee homes budget will show in 23/24 – this will be a housing 
department budget. 

 Development and Corporate Landlord – carparking fees were adjusted to make up 
shortfall? What is this? Cabinet member explained that this was looking forward to 
expected fee changes next year. Some discussion was had regarding the rationale for 
raising fees and what attracts people to use the carparks. 

 Grounds team overspent – it was expected that the transformation project would resolve 
this overspend.  

 
Resolved: 

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes - Thursday, 2 November 2023 3 

Committee noted the report and the better financial position. They commented that they hoped to 
see more detail on the Beacon’s financial position in the options report that was due in December. 

 

8.     Planning enforcement update report  
 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Development Management introduced the Planning 
Enforcement update report. The Enforcement Team Leader and Head of Planning were present to 
answer questions. 
The report sought Scrutiny Committee’s comments on the progress made in the last year in 
reducing the on-hand enforcement case work to enable improvement in the performance of timely 
responses to investigations. 
 
It was explained that there was continued improvement in the service. The addition of two 
members of staff, now permanent, had created consistency in the on-hand reduction. 
 
The report was for the period of September 2022 – September 2023. The team reduced open 
cases from 229 to 161. There were external factor complications (such as Covid backlog where 
staff couldn’t site visit). In April, two new staff were employed, creating a consistent 6-week 
reduction figure as a result. 
The team had not achieved the target of having decisions made on 80% of new cases within a 6-
week period from the initial application, but they were heading in the right direction. 
 
Comments were as follows: 
 

 Page 22 graph 1 – members asked about the difference between on-hand and open. 
Officers confirmed open is a new case. 

 A member said they would have liked a last year’s comparison and costs. Officer added 
that triage deals with varying case difficulty. Lots of people complaining doesn’t mean a 
case was dealt with quicker – planning harm was the measure for triage. 

 Officers confirmed that there is currently no national target for enforcement, but the 
planning reforms has proposed some; waiting for Govt confirmation. Other councils had 
contacted the enforcement team on what they were achieving and how, this was a 
testament to the improvements made. 

 Members commended the team for producing a clear report. 

 Stuck old cases – members asked officers to maintain pressure on those. 

 Biodiversity net gain – chair asked officers if they could put the onus onto developers and 
landowners. Officers responded that they needed steer from government and that this 
would be a major piece of work in future, liaising with the climate team. Officers added that 
they had proactive working themes where they focus on a particular area of work for a 
period of time. 

 In response to a question, officers confirmed that some planning officers from the wider 
team were viewing the enforcement cases and joint working / discussing. 

 Parish questions on enforcement – officers confirmed that they’ve done a round of parish 
training on planning. Officers have not received any complaints about the process over the 
last 6 months. People are understanding that the enforcement team cannot provide 
updates during the investigation, but the team will update when the investigation has 
concluded. 

 Members asked whether drainage was part of enforcement. Officers explained that 
drainage was not always a breach of planning control – but the team did work with the 
drainage team, Thames Water etc if the enforcement team were made aware of a drainage 
case.  Usually, County Council were alerted first because it tended to be a highways issue. 

 Members were keen to see the success communicated – could a comms message be 
released? 

 Discussed proactive work (noting lack of resource for now). Officers responded that not 
every reported breach required action – residents should talk to one another and consider 
whether it was worth taxpayer’s money to report, or can it be resolved by neighbourly 
discussion. 

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes - Thursday, 2 November 2023 4 

 
 
Resolved:  
Committee noted the report and congratulated the enforcement team on the report and on the 
ongoing improvements.  
 
Comments to Cabinet: 
1. Committee were conscious of the on-hand caseload, and they wanted to see a downward curve 
in cases still open. 
 
2. Committee would like the enforcement team to challenge on KPIs, to reach beyond their current 
success. 
 
3. Committee discussed biodiversity net gain and would like to see this highlighted in enforcement 
work. 
 
4. Committee would like to see a communication on improvements to the service  - to inform 
residents and improve public image of enforcement. 
 

 

9.     Consultation and engagement annual report  
 
Cabinet member for Communications presented the report, supported by the Communications and 
Engagement Manager. The Head of Corporate Services was also present online. 
 
In the last financial year, the Consultation and Engagement team conducted 22 consultations, 
launched 21 feedback forms, supported four neighbourhood plan consultations and five 
conservation area appraisals. The new annual report highlighted the key findings from each project 
and the actions the councils have taken from the outcomes of these engagement activities. 
 
The report showed the variety of engagement the councils carried out and demonstrated how 
consultation and engagement findings have led to changes in council services.  
 
Below summarises the main discussion of the committee. 

 Members found that the inclusion of district demographics data in the report was very 
useful. 

 Members asked how were people asked? And what were the different platforms for 
consultation? Officers responded that the team used software called SmartSurvey and had 
obtained lots of email addresses particularly during Covid, when online surveys became the 
default method. The officer present suggested that the team needed to get out and about 
which was resource intensive but effective.  

 The Joint Local Plan (JLP) consultation was approaching, and the team had plans to 
consult residents in cafes and schools . The officer felt that the JLP is likely to have an 
impact on college age residents as future homeowners – therefore we needed to try and 
reach these groups. Facebook and direct mail were successful methods. 

 A member asked whether we can benchmark against other authorities to assess the 
effectiveness of resources used and their impact? The officers responded that we needed 
to define what was a successful consultation. The South and Vale team was comprised of 
three members of staff in addition to the manager. We do need to see how much each 
consultation costs in terms of staffing costs, yet it was thought to be more efficient than 
outsourcing. Response rate was a crude measure and not necessarily a sign of quality 
consultation exercises.  

 It was noted that for The Beacon consultation project, the  team reached out in person to 
users of the facility and not just via social media. 

 The impending JLP and Corporate Plan consultations will use the teams new, more 
interactive software called Citizen Space. 

Page 7



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes - Thursday, 2 November 2023 5 

 A member queried a governance review where only 5 people replied – in response the 
officers responded that some topics only affect a few people hence a smaller response 
rate.  

 A member asked were we ready to respond to varied answers of those we only start 
reaching now? (underserved residents). 

 A members suggested a Youth Council as an engagement method – officer added that they 
were not keen on consulting the identical group of people each time. The team continued to 
look at best practices for example, West Oxfordshire District Council created a good charter 
for young people.  

 Other suggested methods from members were consulting businesses on the high street, a 
Citizens Assembly, telephone polls and residents’ panels. 

 The officer added that we had a large consultation mailing list, and that a large proportion of 
work was for statutory consultation. 

 Taxi tariffs consultation – a member asked whether all consultations were in this report? 
Officer confirmed that yes, all of the last financial year except ongoing neighbourhood plan 
activities (there were two currently). Officer added that there were plans for some light-
touch activities such as polls. 

 It was explained that using Tiktok was too intensive with little to no traction. 
 
Resolved: 
Committee noted the report and commended officers for a well written and clear report.  
 
Committee’s main comments to Cabinet were: 
 

1. Officers need to include their award nomination in the report. 
 

2. Advertise/promote this report and include it in the data hub. 
 

3. What were the consultation team’s learning points? Committee would like to see a formal 
look back at lessons learned in future annual reports. 

 
4. Platforms – committee would like to see all the platforms available for the team to use for 

consultations. Committee discussed potential development of a framework of criteria and 
benchmarking against other authorities, although mindful of the team’s capacity. Could a 
criteria for ‘what a successful consultation looks like’ be developed between Cabinet and 
the Consultations team? 

 
 
Chair thanked all officers for their work. 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 21:00 
 
 
Chair:        Date:  

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council - Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 5 December 2023 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the  

Scrutiny Committee 

 
held on Tuesday, 5 December 2023 at 7.00 pm 
This was a virtual, online meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 

Open to the public, including the press 

 
Remote attendance: 
Councillors: Councillor Katherine Foxhall, Councillor Judy Roberts and Councillor 
Hayleigh Gascoigne 
Officers:  Tim Oruye (Head of Policy and Programmes), Adrianna Partridge (Deputy 
Chief Executive for Transformation and Operations) and Ben Silverthorne (Trainee 
Democratic Services Officer). 
Cabinet members: Councillor Helen Pighills (Cabinet member for Community Health and 
Wellbeing) and Councillor Bethia Thomas (Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member 
Climate Action and the Environment, Strategic Partnerships and Place). 
Guests: Gordon Muvuti (Place Director, Swindon Locality, NHS BSW ICB) and Caroline 
Holmes (Deputy Place Director, Swindon Locality, NHS BSW ICB) 
 

Sc23 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies were received for Councillors Ron Batstone, Oliver Forder, Debby Hallett and 
Sally Povolotsky. 
 

Sc24 Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
No urgent business, but the chair did run through housekeeping matters. 
 

Sc25 Declaration of interests  
 
None. 
 

Sc26 Minutes of the last meeting  
 
Resolved: Chair suggested that the minutes be approved in the next in person meeting in 
February. The committee agreed to this. 
 

Sc27 Public participation  
 
None. 
 

Sc28 Work schedule and dates for all Vale and Joint scrutiny meetings  
 
The committee reviewed the work programme. 
 

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council - Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 5 December 2023 

Sc29 NHS Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire 
Integrated Care Board - community services engagement  
 

The NHS Bath and Northeast Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire Integrated Care 
Board (BSW ICB) Community Services Engagement presentation was presented by 
invited guests Caroline Holmes and Gordon Muvuti. Councillor Helen Pighills, 
Cabinet Member for Community Health and Wellbeing was also present. The 
PowerPoint slides were provided. 
 
The presentation provided an update on the board’s integrated community base care 
programme, which would be informing the recommission of community services from 
April 2025, whose area included the western part of Vale of White Horse (VOWH). 
 
Below provides a summary of the discussion: 

 A member asked for clarity around the list of contracts and their ability in gaining new 
contracts with providers, and the different types of health services that would be 
provided. It was explained that in Swindon it was Great Western Hospitals NHS Trust 
and they held the community services for the scheme. With regards to Shrivenham 
(on the BSW ICB border) there were specific areas, such as community nursing and 
speech therapy, that were provided by Oxford Health. There were also contributions 
to three Minor Injury Units. 

 A member asked if the GP system fitted into the framework of the programme. It was 
explained that Elm Tree Surgery was one of the practices within the Swindon locality 
within the Integrated Care Board and was one of the primary care networks, which 
spread out into Oxfordshire for social care services and VOWH for some community 
services. Aim to operate fluidly around geographical boundaries and not let that 
affect people’s experience of care services.  

 A member commented on the digital platform and how it was progressing to be 
incorporated into the programme. It was responded that the ICB was developing an 
integrated care record, which was currently at a variety of levels of integration but 
was progressing. Aim to see increased opportunity of using digital platforms, such as 
apps and home monitoring. 

 A member asked for further clarification on dealing with crossing boundaries through 
their contracts and whether they overlapped. It was recognised that there was an 
ongoing need for neighbouring Integrated Care Boards to work together and there 
was real opportunity to build these relationships. 

 Cabinet member for Community Health and Wellbeing was welcomed to ask a 
question with chair’s permission. She asked about moving people from hospital care 
to home care and would this be possible in this overlapping boundary. It was 
responded that not much would change within the current framework, as this was 
already being done. A change in provider would not change this. Using Swindon as 
an example, performance levels were good but there were challenges with 
ambulance queues and handovers at Great Western Hospital.  Discharges were 
performing well. 

 Vale Council Leader was welcomed to ask a question, with chair’s permission. She 
asked about the connection between Oxford services and Swindon services, looking 
through the eyes of Faringdon and the western side of Vale of White Horse District. 
GP services for Faringdon were mainly BOB ICB, and hospital provision was BSW 
ICB, whereas Shrivenham GP services would be mainly through BSW ICB. It was 
therefore important to have good connections between services. The guests from 
BSW ICB did acknowledge there was a need to reach out to more groups within 
Oxfordshire, and Oxfordshire County Council, to ensure more positive links and 

Page 10



Vale of White Horse District Council - Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 5 December 2023 

connections. Existing pathways won’t change, but BSW ICB should make links with 
Oxfordshire County Council as they develop health services. Guest speakers 
suggested that they would take this away for consideration. 

 A member asked how the board envisaged working with VOWH District Council, 
being the main link into the area. It was responded that the board would look into this 
as they were currently in the process of appointing a new Deputy Chair of the 
strategic Integrated Care Alliance in Swindon, as well as looking into committee 
effectiveness and memberships. Guests from BSW ICB commented that they could 
work with Vale officers to look at joining up forums where VOWH can be involved, 
councillors and officers. 

 A member asked further questions on the digital platform, regarding the integrated 
care record, and whether this was something the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and 
Berkshire West Integrated Care Board (BOB ICB) was also going to do. If that was 
the case, members asked what the impact would be if patients were referred 
between geographical areas without this integrated record. The BOB ICB was trying 
to implement and digital provision into community centres.  The member asked 
whether this would be compatible with the Community Health Provisions and whether 
that would be put into the current plan. Guest speaker agreed with this but expressed 
that there was currently no solution to this, but due to the NHS growing the “spine” of 
the NHS database, they believed a solution could be found. A lot of information can 
be shared across but different areas may have their own bespoke systems (possibly 
several systems together), so this can be confusing when sharing information with 
other areas. There may be potential to address this through procurement process 
and looking at embedded cultures and working practices. 

 A member asked what were the key risks to the service becoming sustainable? The 
guest speakers responded that a big case for change was noting the number of beds 
needed and the possible influx of admissions if no changes were made, which would 
lead to a much larger amount of funding that would be needed to run the services. If 
we look at supporting people in their own homes and support prevention (helping 
people to stay healthy, lifestyle, mental health), this would help sustainability over 
being a reactive service. This programme gives us opportunity to challenge being 
sustainable and preventative. A cited example was 6% population growth by 2038 for 
the BSW ICB. Noting mainly 60+ age group and the fact that this group develops 
more chronic conditions, often more than one. Our workforce was changing and 
aging, retiring earlier also, impacting the services. Demographic changes would raise 
the cost of hospital services, noting that this was a national issue. If we did nothing, 
this was unsustainable, so we were working to transform our services to prevent the 
risks, treat people earlier and prevent conditions where possible. Technology may 
assist in this, and not all solutions were expensive. 

 A member asked about health scrutiny – it was confirmed that health scrutiny was 
combined with other scrutiny areas for Swindon. Noted that Oxfordshire County 
Council had a separate health scrutiny overview committee. Chair suggested that we 
should ensure all partners have effective and constructive scrutiny, this could be 
looked at. 

 Guest speakers were thanked for their time and expertise and chair hoped that the 
communication would be sustained between VOWH and the BSW ICB. 
 
  

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.13 pm 

Page 11



BSW Together 

The Future of Community 
Services in BaNES, 
Swindon and Wiltshire 
(BSW)
Vale Scrutiny Committee 
 
5th December 2023

P
age 1

M
inute Item

 S
c29

P
age 12



Setting the scene – ICS vision and Strategy

The foundation for change 

P
age 2
P

age 13



 

Setting the scene – ICS vision and Strategy

Breaking down our vision 

The proportions of how much is 
spent in different sectors is expected 

to change over time.  

P
age 3

P
age 14



Six transformation priorities have been set out to provide a consolidated view of the direction of travel 
for primary and community care services:

Each transformation priority is then detailed through interventions and actions which identify the specific 
activities that need to be completed to support successful delivery of each transformation priorities.   

Five focus areas are considered across all priorities: health inequalities, children and young people, 
mental health, major conditions, learning disabilities and autism.

This delivery plan will be supported by the six enablers identified in the BSW Together Integrated Care 
Strategy, as well as an additional enabler on commissioning and contracting:

1. Deliver enhanced outcomes and experiences for our adults and children by evolving our local 
teams

2. Adopt a scaled population health management approach by building capacity and knowledge
3. Actively co-design and co-deliver preventable models of care by strengthening local 

partnerships and assets
4. Increase personalisation of care through engaging and empowering our people. 
5. Improve access to a wider range of services closer to home through greater connection and 

coordination
6. Support access to the right care by providing co-ordinated urgent care within the community 

Primary and Community Care Delivery Plan Executive summary
The primary and community care delivery plan is a strategic document that supports the broader BSW Together Integrated Care Strategy 
and Implementation Plan.  It was approved by the BSW ICB Board on 21 September 2023.  The plan is the next level of detail for the ICS 
Strategy and Implementation Plan.

BSW Together has the opportunity to transform how we deliver 
primary and community care services across the integrated care 
system (ICS). We want those living and working within our 
communities, and those who use and deliver these services to feel a 
step change in how we come together and collaborate. This will create 
a truly integrated network where everyone’s contribution is valued and 
recognised.

We need to address important drivers including an ageing population 
with increasingly complex needs, including frailty; growing demand 
and pressure across our services and on our workforce; the need for a 
person-centred approach to care; and the relationship between 
greater equality, better care, and a healthier economy 

A range of inputs have been captured and consolidated to develop the 
delivery plan and identify the supporting detail. These include: 

• Review of existing BSW Together documents including the 
Integrated Care Strategy and Implementation Plan

• Broader national policy and guidance including the Fuller stocktake, 
Major Conditions strategy and NHS Long Term Plan

• Market engagement with local providers and partners

• Stakeholder feedback from the ICBC Programme, Clinical 
Oversight Group and ICB members, and primary care GPs

Purpose

Approach

Transformation priorities

• Environmental sustainability 
• Our role as an anchor institution 
• Commissioning and contracting

• Shifting funding to prevention
• Developing our workforce
• Technology and data
• Estates of the future

3
This work is part of the Integrated Community Based Care Programme, one of six BSW transformation programmes. It is one of the first priority 

transformation programmes and focuses on community services.  The ICBC programme is also the vehicle for the recommissioning of community 
services. 

P
age 4
P

age 15



Moving towards delivery 
The ICB initiated a strategic programme in the Autumn of 2022 called the Integrated Community Based Care 
Programme. This programme will serve to enable delivery of a long term transformed model of Community Services and 
is informed by the Primary and Community Delivery Plan. It works alongside the other ICS Strategic transformation 
programmes including Primary Care, Elective Recovery, Urgent and Emergency Care, Mental Health and Learning 
Disabilities and Autism.

P
age 5

P
age 16



Integrated community-based care – Strategic Outline Case

 
Case for change in BSW

Like all care systems BSW faces a range of strategic challenges, including an ageing 
population and workforce, significant variation in health and wellbeing outcomes, 
increasing demand for services, growing numbers of individuals living with chronic 
conditions, challenging performance targets with regards to access to some services, 
significant medical and technologic advances and limited financial resources. When 
these challenges are combined with the public and political expectations that are placed 
on Local Authority and NHS services, the need for innovation and improvement in the 
way services are delivered becomes essential. 

Aging population: In BSW, significant population 
growth in the older age groups is expected. There are 
currently over 80,000 people aged over 75 across the 
area. By 2025, this number is expected to grow by 
over 40 per cent to over 100,000 and the BSW 
population is likely to exceed one million, with one in 
five people – or more than 200,000 – aged over 65 
years. . This will also have the long-term effect of 
reducing the proportion of our population who are 
working. 

Inequality: The prevalence of many health conditions is higher for those living in less advantaged 
communities. Inequalities across the BSW population arise because of the conditions in which 
people are born, grow, live, work and age. These conditions influence the opportunities for good 
health, and how people think, feel and act, and this shapes their mental health, physical health, and 
wellbeing. The Covid-19 pandemic has only exacerbated existing health inequalities.

Children’s health 
While most child health indicators are better than national average, many children 
have difficult living circumstances across the system: 
• 1 in 4 children do not achieve a good level of development at the end of Reception 
• 1 in 10 children are living in poverty 
• 1 in 200 children are in care 
• Obesity and mental health problems are increasing. 

Rurality
BSW covers an area of 1,500 square miles, much of which is  rural, especially across Wiltshire and BaNES. There are several challenges that rural areas face, 
including around transport and broadband connectivity. In terms of health services, trusts operating in rural areas tend to treat more older people than in urban areas. 
Frailty and complex needs amongst elderly populations present major challenges to the delivery of care in rural settings – particularly in isolated, small communities. 

Access to services is a  
challenge within BSW. Since the 
start of the Covid pandemic we 
have seen an increase in the 
waiting times for many services. 

The resilience of many 
organisations within the system 
is also a key factor for us to 
address in order to deliver 
effective services in the future.  

The climate emergency facing our planet is 
directly impacting on the health and wellbeing 
of the BSW population. Through our Green 
Plan we have identified the areas where 
health and care services can play an 
important role in responding to this significant 
challenge.   

P
age 6
P

age 17



Integrated Community-based Care – The ICS vision and strategy

BSW Care Model Video 

1. Personalised care

We want everyone who lives in BSW to experience a personalised 
approach, however they interact with health and care

2. Healthier communities

We want every community in BSW to be a healthier community 
with reduced health inequality so that everyone has a better 
chance to live a healthy life

3. Joined-up local teams

Multi-disciplinary teams, designed for and based in healthier 
communities, will be able to work together seamlessly to serve 
local people

4. Local specialist services

We will make more specialist services available at home and closer 
to where people live

5. Specialist centres

Our network of specialist centres will develop to focus more on the 
most specialist care and less on routine services which we can 
provide elsewhere

Priorities of the Fuller Stocktake Report
• Streamlining access to care and advice
• Providing more proactive, personalised 

care with support from a 
multidisciplinary team of professionals; 
and 

• Helping people to stay well for longer.

The local and national foundations – the BSW  model 
of care and national strategies (Fuller Stocktake)

P
age 7

P
age 18

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6hXHYAp0uE4


The BSW Vision
We listen and work 
together to improve 
health and wellbeing 

and reduce inequalities

Strategic objectives
1. Focus on 

prevention and 
early intervention

2. Fairer health and 
wellbeing 
outcomes

3. Excellent health 
and care services

If we are successful, we will see long-
term improvements:
1. An overall increase in life expectancy 

across our population 
2. A reduction in the gap between life 

expectancy and healthy life expectancy 
across our population

3. Reduced variation in healthy life 
expectancy by geography, deprivation, 
ethnicity and other characteristics

Overarching 
Outcome 
Measures

Integrated Community-based Care

What outcomes are we seeking? 

P
age 8
P

age 19



Context 
• Current service contracts date back to the era of three separate Clinical Commissioning Groups across 

BSW

• Some contracts are highly integrated between the Councils and ICB and include health, public health and 
social care services, others are focussed on health only services.

• Mix of ‘all age’ and separate ‘adults’ and ‘children’s’ only contracts.

• Some contracts include end of life services including hospice care. 

• The B&NES contract is a prime provider contract and includes the sub commissioning of 39 sub-
contractors providing a range of services on behalf of the Council and the ICB.  

 
• There is unwarranted variation in the scope and level of services commissioned varies across BSW.

• Sustainability of providers within BSW and the recruitment and retention of a valued workforce are core 
priorities in our approach. 

• In Swindon, the current community health contract for adults is held by Great Western Hospital NHSFT and 
serves Shrivenham residents.  Oxford Health NHSFT also provide community nursing services, access to 
MIUs and  speech and language therapy for schools.  Both contracts are in scope for the reprovision of 
services in April 2025. 

Integrated Community-based Care

Commissioning approach for community-based services 

P
age 9

P
age 20



Integrated Community-based Care

Principles underpinning our approach to the recommissioning of 
community-based health and care services.

Core principles associated with the provision of community-based care 

1. Population focussed • We will collectively focus on the wellbeing of the population, the prevention of ill-health and the provision of early interventions when 
needed.

• Our approach will be informed by the use of Population Health Management tools and intelligence to target improvements more accurately 
to the areas of greatest need within BSW. 

• Our approach will be holistic, focussing on the whole person and the wider determinants that affect their health and wellbeing. 

2. Informed by the experts and 
those with lived experience
 

• We will develop approaches and services through co-creation with the local population who use them and colleagues who deliver them.   
• We will become an effective learning system, with a willingness to experiment, fail and learn so that we can deliver better outcomes.
    

3. Rewarding roles and careers • We will invest to develop and grow a dynamic and innovative workforce with the skills, knowledge and behaviours to offer personalised 
care with patient safety and positive experience as central to all care delivery for the local population

• We will recognise and value the critical role played by formal and informal carers and the voluntary and community sectors in the delivery 
of care. 

4. Support delivery of the BSW 
Together ‘Integrated Care 
Strategy’.

• Our approach to the provision of community-based care services will reflect our commitment to delivering the outcomes set out in the 
Integrated Care Strategy and the approach described in the BSW Care Model.   

• Particular attention will be given to the delivery of fairer health outcomes within BSW. 

5. Consistency of service offer • The service offer across BSW will be consistent, but with variation in services where it is appropriate for meeting local needs.  

P
age 10
P

age 21



Integrated Community-based Care

Principles underpinning our approach to the recommissioning of 
community-based health and care services.

Principles specifically associated with this commissioning process

6. Specification of 
requirements  

 We will commission services by:
 describing a set of desired outcomes; and 
 setting out specific requirements (e.g: Personalised care, collaborative operating between different providers, 

coordinating service delivery at the neighbourhood level, using Population Heath Management Tools and 
sharing information via the Integrated Care Record). 

7. Scope of requirements  The scope of requirements will be described in two ways:
 Core – what range of services are we commissioning from 1st April 2025 to replace the current services – linked 

to the expiration of five existing contracts across BSW. 
 Reserved – additional services that may be introduced into the contract(s) at a later date, for example when 

other existing contracts expire, or an improved way of working is identified.   

8. Work collaboratively   The new provider or providers are expected to emerge through true collaboration between current and potential 
providers. They will need to involve a cross section of statutory, voluntary and community sector organisations and 
are expected to maximise the contribution from local organisations. 

9. Focus on value for 
money

 Our investment decisions will be informed by an evidence-based approach to achieving value for money. 
 We expect to see a shift in the proportion of resources invested in different sectors to more effectively deliver care 

and improve outcomes (shift left).
 Our emerging ‘Case for Change’ highlights the risk if we do nothing and challenges our traditional approaches to the 

allocation of financial resources. 
 We need greater financial transparency between partners.    

P
age 11

P
age 22



Integrated Community-based Care

Principles underpinning our approach to the recommissioning of 
community-based health and care services.

Principles specifically associated with this commissioning process

10. Use technology better  We will deploy digital and automated tools to enhance capacity and capability, supporting individuals and 
professionals to make better choices. 

 With more relevant, timely and accurate information our aim is to increase the ability and confidence of our 
local communities to take responsibilities for their own wellbeing, health and care.  

11. Achieve environmental 
sustainability

 Providers will need to deliver improvements in the environmental sustainability of services. 

12. Allow time for innovation 
and collaboration 

 

 We will support providers to innovate services over time, building on current good practice and developing 
collaboration. 

 We will set out the early priorities for transformation during the initial years of the contract(s). 
 We will take a shared risk approach between partners in the way we transition and deliver services.
 We will encourage collaborative behaviours and challenge those which are non-collaborative.
  

P
age 12
P

age 23



Integrated Community-based Care
Timeline
Phase
Decision Gateways

Timeline Phase Decision Gateways

Oct-23  Pre-selection (Selection Questionnaire) 1. To agree go-live of negotiated procurement

Nov-23    

Dec-23    

Jan-24 Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) 2. To shortlist bidders to ITN stage (max 4 bidders)
3. To publish ITN

Feb-24    

Mar-24 Round 1 - Dialogue / negotiation / evaluation/moderation  

Apr-24    

May-24   4. To shortlist bidders to stage 2 (max 2 bidders)

Jun-24 Round 2 - Dialogue / negotiation / evaluation/moderation  

Jul-24    

Aug-24   5. To approve proposed contract award * (final contract & final 
specifications)

Sep-24 Commencement of new Contract for mobilisation and 
transition of services to new provider

 

Apr-25 Commencement of full ICBC contract  

P
age 13

P
age 24



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 15 January 2024  Page 1 26/01/24 

Scrutiny work programme 

15 January 2024 

 
 
 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 29 Jan 
2024 
 

Garden waste permit 
approach 
 
 

 
 

Councillors Mark 
Coleman and Andy 
Foulsham 
 

Mark Minion 
mark.minion@southandv
ale.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 5 
Feb 2024 
 

Budget setting 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Andy 
Crawford 
 

Simon Hewings 
simon.hewings@southan
dvale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 5 
Feb 2024 
 

The Beacon 
 
 

Appraisal on future service 
delivery for The Beacon, 
Wantage 

Councillor Andy 
Crawford 
 

Andrew Busby 
andrew.busby@southand
vale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 5 
Feb 2024 
 

Corporate Plan 2024 - 
2028 approach 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Andy 
Foulsham 
 

Tim Oruye 
tim.oruye@southandvale.
gov.uk 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 6

mailto:mark.minion@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:mark.minion@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.busby@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.busby@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk


 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 15 January 2024 Page 2 26/01/24 

Scrutiny Committee 6 
May 2024 
 

Corporate plan 
quarterly performance 
report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

When quarterly performance 
management reports are 
reported to Cabinet, Scrutiny 
Committee members will be 
asked to review the report and 
confirm to the Scrutiny Chair if 
there are any elements of the 
report they wish to discuss at 
the next Scrutiny Committee 
meeting.  The relevant Cabinet 
lead and contact officer will be 
notified.  

 
 

Tim Oruye 
Tim.oruye@southandvale
.gov.uk 
 
 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 20 May 
2024 
 

Didcot Garden Town 
strategies 
 
 

Scrutiny will review a report 
that  will update on the DGT 
Delivery Plan and seek 
specific approvals from 
Cabinet for relevant 
strategies or plans 

Councillor Sue Caul 
 

Jayne Bolton 
jayne.bolton@southandv
ale.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 20 May 
2024 
 

Transformation 
programme update 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Andy 
Foulsham 
 

Tim Oruye 
tim.oruye@southandvale.
gov.uk 

 
Items for future meetings (dates to be determined) 

 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Leasing of vehicles for 
grounds maintenance 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Mark 
Coleman 
 

John Backley 
john.backley@southandv
ale.gov.uk 

P
age 26

mailto:Tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tim.oruye@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk


 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 15 January 2024 Page 3 26/01/24 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 25 Mar 
2024 
 

Future joint scrutiny 
items to be confirmed 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 27



  

 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Report of Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 

Author: Andre Busby 

Telephone: 07849701778 

Textphone:  

E-mail: Andrew.busby@southandvale.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet member (s) responsible: 

 

 

To: Scrutiny Committee 

DATE: 5 February 2024 

Cllr Helen Pighills  

Tel: 01235   534446 

E-mail: helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Future Direction of The Beacon, Wantage 

Recommendation(s) 

(a)  That Scrutiny Committee review and provide feedback on the Draft cabinet 
considering the Future Direction of The Beacon, Wantage attached, 

 

Implications 
(further detail 
within the report) 

Financial Legal  Climate and 
Ecological 

Equality and 
diversity 

Yes Yes - indirectly Yes- indirectly Yes - indirectly 

Signing off officer Please refer to 
the report 
checklist  

Please refer to 
the report 
checklist 

Please refer to 
the report 
checklist 

Please refer to 
the report 
checklist 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To provide Scrutiny the opportunity to review and provide feedback on the draft cabinet 
report attached, before it is considered by Cabinet on 5 February 2024.  

Strategic Objectives  

2. See attached draft cabinet report 

Background 

3. See attached draft cabinet report 

Financial Implications 

4. See attached draft cabinet report 

Page 28

Agenda Item 9



  

 

Legal Implications 

5. See attached draft cabinet report 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

6. See attached draft cabinet report 

Equalities implications 

7. See attached draft cabinet report 

 

Risks 

8. See attached draft cabinet report 

Other Implications 

9. See attached draft cabinet report 

Conclusion 

10. See attached draft cabinet report 

 

Background Papers 

 Draft Cabinet report and associated appendices, some of which are confidential. 
 

  

 

Page 29



Cabinet Report 
 

 

Report of Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 

Author: Andrew Busby  

Telephone: 07849701778 

Text phone:  

E-mail: andrew.busby@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: Wantage in particular, but potential district wide impact 

  

Cabinet member responsible: Cllr Helen Pighills 

Tel: Cllr Helen Pighills 01235   534446 

E-mail: helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

To: CABINET 

Date: 9 February 2024  

 

Future Direction of The Beacon, 

Wantage 

Recommendation(s) 

That Cabinet: 

(a) Endorses the Beacon Development Action Plan (Appendix 1) to optimise 
operation of the in-house delivery model.  

(b) Notes the future potential options for the operation of the Beacon that officers will 
compare an optimised in-house operating model against, following delivery of the 
Development Action Plan to ensure best value is achieved (Appendix 2). 

(c) Acknowledge that the currently unbudgeted implementation costs outlined within 
the Development Action Plan, are subject to agreement of full Council at its 
meeting in February 2024. 

(d) Requests officers enter into formal discussions with Wantage Town Council in 
respect of their occupancy arrangements (Appendix 4). 

(e) Note that the strategic direction for the Beacon and the Arts more widely will be 
met within the council’s new corporate plan 2024-2028. 

(f) Will receive a formal progress review of the actions above, and future options, 
during quarter three of 2024/25.  

 

Purpose of report 

1. To propose a future direction for the discretionary service known as The Beacon, to 
enable ongoing development of the service to offer ‘best value’ to the council. This is 

Page 30

mailto:andrew.busby@southandvale.gov.uk


to maximise community benefit and financial efficiency, and to establish the long-term 
sustainability of the centre. 

2. To outline the proposed Beacon Development Action Plan, including the reasons why 
a plan has been developed, how the actions within the plan were identified and what 
the desired outcomes are. This report also outlines the impact of the actions that are 
proposed to be measured during the initial implementation period and in the future. 
Longer term actions can only be indicative at this stage, as the plan will need to be 
kept under review and the impact of earlier changes considered. 

3. To provide Cabinet with indicative details of potential future operating models for The 
Beacon. 

4. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the council’s overarching financial position, as reported to full Council in February 
2023 when the budget for 2023/24 was agreed. For Vale, the position reflected in the 
council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to full Council in February 
2023 showed that the council was able to set a balanced budget for 2023/24, but that 
there is expected to be a budget gap in future years.  However, there is great 
uncertainty over this caused by a lack of clarity from government.  
 

5. The future funding gap is predicted to increase to over £7.8 million by 2027/28, based 
on current cautious officer estimates of future funding levels. Whilst it is anticipated 
that overall funding for the council will remain relatively unchanged in 2024/25, the 
lack of certainty on future local government funding from 2025/26 onwards means the 
level of funding, and the resulting estimated funding gap, could be significantly 
different from current officer estimates in either a positive or negative way.  Every 
financial decision, particularly those involving medium-term funding commitments (i.e., 
those beyond 2024/25), needs to be cognisant of the potential for significant funding 
gaps in future years. The budget report for 2024/25 will provide an update on the 
council’s financial position. 
 
 

The provision of The Beacon provides links to our Corporate Plan 
Objectives  

6. Building Healthy Communities 

 The Beacon contributes to the wellbeing and health of our community through 
delivery of a variety of programmed arts activities and by offering an affordable 
venue for hire for community activities including dance/sports/special interest 
groups, wellness activities and community support and social events.  

 Implementing the action plan as outlined in this report will allow The Beacon to 
improve the services it directly and indirectly provides for the community, further 
increasing the positive impact the centre has on the wellbeing of the district’s 
residents.  

 The Beacon contributes to the economic wellbeing of Wantage and the 
surrounding area, as it is a key leisure and entertainment venue in the district, 
attracting people to the town centre.  It also offers an affordable venue for 
community groups, businesses, and residents to use to deliver their own income-
generating activities.  

Page 31



 As one of the key providers of entertainment/Arts infrastructure for Wantage and 
the surrounding area, the Beacon holds an important role for the community, 
offering affordable and accessible facilities and activities for all. 

 Its location within the town centre location offers a well-placed entertainment 
venue and meeting place for the community.  Currently several local groups and 
businesses use the venue to run activities for a range of people, including 
vulnerable groups for whom limited alternative provision exists.  While some 
sections of the community are aware this, the action plan will look to promote this 
more widely in the community. The venue is a designated ‘Safe Space’ for the 
community, offering refuge for anyone, in particular as a safe haven for 
vulnerable individuals where they can come for assistance. 

7. Building stable finances 

 The Beacon Development Action Plan includes looking at ways to improve the 
financial viability of The Beacon, including accessing potential grants and 
external funding, increasing the in-house programme of shows, classes and 
events, and reviewing the centre’s pricing and marketing strategies to maximise 
income. The Beacon team would continue to work with finance to develop the 
financial management processes and identify innovative ways to further boost 
income generation and minimise costs. 

 The action plan also includes several capital projects and improvements for the 
centre, from additional external branding (see Appendix 3) to undertaking pre-
emptive building improvements, to ensure the longevity of the building and its 
activities for the future.  By investing in pre-emptive building improvements and 
maintenance the council will minimise the need for costly substantial, avoidable 
or urgent works in the future. Improvements will also improve the accessibility 
and sustainability of the building, offer a more appealing venue to customers.  

Background 

8. Wantage Civic Hall (now known as The Beacon) was built in 1973 and is typical of its 
time in architectural design. Upon local government reorganisation in 1974, Wantage 
Urban District Council ceased to exist, and The Beacon transferred from the Urban 
Council to the District Council. The council subsequently entered into an agreement 
dated 16 November 1977 with Wantage Town Council regarding user rights for The 
Beacon. This agreement gives the town council rights to office space, access and 
use of communal areas and free use of the venue for democratic meetings and civic 
functions each year in return for an agreed contribution annually in respect of the 
cost of maintenance, lighting, heating, cleaning and telephone services – there is no 
separate charge for occupation, in terms of a licence fee. See Appendix 4 for more 
information on the town council agreement/rights regarding the venue. 
 

9. The potential current annual cost to the council of the free use Wantage Town 
Council receive for their democratic meetings (56 meetings in 2023/24) and the 12 
four-hour sessions they are entitled to for civic functions has an estimated value of at 
least £15,000 per year currently.  This includes the value of the room hire that could 
not be billed, and cost of staffing the building for these uses. This figure does not 
include the annual contribution the agreement allows the council to charge, which is 
estimated to be 3.65 per cent of the cost of maintenance, lighting, heating, cleaning, 

Page 32



and telephone services. In 2022/23 this equated to approximately £4,850.   
 

10. The council’s Strategic Property team are currently reviewing possible alternative 
office accommodation options which might be suitable for Town Council use with a 
view to commencing discussions with them shortly. 

 
11. During the council’s fifty-year ownership of the building, it has undergone numerous 

reviews and some internal improvements, with the last major building improvements 
undertaken in 1998.  

12. In 2011/2012, following a steady decline in Wantage Civic Hall’s financial 
performance over several years and following the transfer of ownership of another 
council-owned civic venue to a town council (Abingdon Guildhall), members of the 
public posed questions to the council about the Hall’s future. The council decided to 
retain the venue as a valuable asset to the local community and commissioned a 
business review, which resulted in the renaming and rebranding of the Hall as ‘The 
Beacon’ in 2014.  

13. The centre currently employees 8.14 FTE and 3 casual staff. The FTE provision 
includes four posts that are shared with South Oxfordshire District Council, one 
apportioned 50 per cent and three apportioned 30 per cent to Vale. 

14. Between March 2020 and September 2021, The Beacon closed to the public due to 
the Covid pandemic and was temporarily repurposed as an asymptomatic testing 
centre and the staff were redeployed where possible.  

15. In September 2021, the venue reopened to the public for hire and began re-
introducing and rebuilding programmed activities for the public. However, a decision 
was taken not to reopen the café on the ground floor after a second, brief lockdown 
in December 2021 following a review of the café income and expenditure in the years 
running up to the pandemic.  

16. External hire is slowly returning to pre-pandemic levels, despite increasing 
competition in the area, and the venue is using the modest programming budget to 
provide a selection of shows and events for the community.  These have seen good 
uptake and provide good profit margins for the centre as well as receiving positive 
customer feedback.  

17. As with the whole entertainment industry, it has taken some time to see public uptake 
return to ‘normal’ levels following the Covid pandemic and the subsequent cost of 
living crisis, but sales and visitor figures are steadily improving for the centre and 
remain on a positive trajectory.  

18. Through 2022/23 officers commissioned a range of advisory reviews of The Beacon, 
including those by Artisan Estates Management Limited and Bryn Jones Associates 
Ltd that reviewed a range of options for cabinet members to consider in relation to 
future options for The Beacon. Consultancy support from the Oxfordshire arts sector 
provided additional advice on the reports received from the above consultants. 
Additional work has included a review of programming costs, capacity assumptions, 
catering options, stock condition review of the building and external areas.  

19. The reviews and further investigations have provided a range of guidance for 
immediate and ongoing operational actions as well as options for future management 

Page 33



of The Beacon. It should be noted that these reports each reflect a specific point-in-
time, recognising that there are some inaccuracies/assumptions within them and that 
by their nature the situation described in them may no longer be accurate. 

20. The Artisan report focused on the building viability and uses while the BJA review 
focused on the business operations, with some consideration towards the cultural 
aspects.  Both reports included several recommended operational and strategic 
improvements in their areas of focus, with frequent overlapping areas, such as 
customer engagement, and maintaining a well-presented venue. See below the 
outline scope of these reviews. 

Artisan Property Options Appraisal (full report in Appendix 6) 

21. Artisan was commissioned by the Strategic Property team to undertake an options 
appraisal to explore avenues open to the council from a real estate asset 
management perspective. The approach of the Artisan property options appraisal 
undertaken in May 2022 for The Beacon was to:  

 explore and identify the most viable options available to the council to deliver 
the best yield from the property on its own and/or with use of the car park land 

 recommend a preferred option that generates the most income and provides 
best value for money to support the council’s long-term financial position 

 consider regional and national funding sources. 
 

Bryn Jones Associates Ltd (BJA) Business Options Appraisal (full report in Appendix 7) 

22. In 2022 the council and South Oxfordshire District Council commissioned BJA to 
review the business options available to both The Beacon and South’s venue 
Cornerstone.  The report concluded in early 2023. The scope of the BJA business 
options appraisal was to: 

 establish the best cultural and community models for The Beacon 

 recommend a preferred option that will establish The Beacon as an artistic and 
cultural hub for the district, maximise its income generating opportunities and 
minimise the cost to the council of providing the facility to support the council’s 
long-term financial position. 

 identify opportunities to benefit from external funding sources and 
partnerships. 

23. BJA conducted an information review including finance, programming, hires, 
ticketing, catering and marketing; one-to-one meetings and consultations with 
relevant groups including members, officers and venue staff; mystery visits and area 
familiarisation; visits to other venues in the area; and secondary research including 
area demographics, arts and local business sector reports. 

24. The BJA report included general recommendations for operational improvements, as 
well as management models. Officers are investigating and implementing the 
operational recommendations where appropriate and are reviewing the models in 
more detail.  They recognise that some of the details within the report, such as the 

Page 34



financial assessments, are not in line with actual figures and that the timing of this 
review required significant assumptions to be made as the most recent data available 
was heavily impacted by the pandemic. 

25. Also, in 2022 the council commissioned a decarbonisation survey of the site, which 
identified a number of operational improvements that will significantly reduce the 
venues carbon footprint and energy costs.  The survey also proposed some possible 
major works to improve decarbonisation of the site, such as solar panels.  Officers 
are already progressing the operational improvements.  The major works were not 
currently financially viable for progression in 2024/25 but will remain under 
consideration.   

26. At the end of 2022, an officer working group was set up to consider the various 
consultant reviews, undertake additional investigations, and prepare an Arts Centre 
Development Action Plan for Cabinet to consider. This group includes representation 
from the Arts Centre Team, Finance, HR, Legal and Strategic Management Team 
with support from an external arts consultant from Oxford Arts Community Interest 
Company (CIC). The action plan incorporates the recommendations that were 
identified by multiple parties and/or that are expected to improve the centre’s financial 
or community benefit performance. 

27. Shown below in Chart 1 is the annual net cost of Beacon to the council for recent 
years. It shows the current forecast outturn for this year 2023/24 and the current 
forecast net cost in 2024/25. We have included the years affected by the pandemic in 
2020/21 and 2021/22. During this period, the centre was predominantly closed and 
repurposed.  Appendix 5 shows the expenditure breakdown for each year since 
2015/16. 

Chart 1 – annual financial performance of Beacon – see appendix 1 for detail 

  

Page 35



28. Chart 1 shows the 2024/25 net cost forecast, inclusive of additional spending on 
marketing and delivery of the action plan.  It also includes income growth/saving 
projections as a result of the investment. The income growth suggested (see 
Appendix 5) shows a cost saving target, were all actions and additional activity being 
delivered from the 1 April 2024.  The actual savings will be tracked through the 
financial year as actions are delivered.   

29. The Beacon has not undergone any major capital building improvements since 1998 
and several areas of the building and its fixtures have been identified as being 
overdue for investment.  Officers have submitted capital budget/Community 
Infrastructure levy (CIL) proposal of £100,000 towards fire safety renovations.  
Additional capital works estimated at £1 million have been identified but are not 
expected to be delivered in 2024/25. As part of the action plan officers will investigate 
external funding options that may contribute to the costs. See the Financial 
Implications section for more detail on these projects and their costs. 

30. Officers are committed to exploring and implementing all reasonable actions to 
improve the medium-term financial viability of The Beacon, while still offering 
substantial benefit to the community. In order to achieve these improvements and 
maximise financial improvements some investment is required in 2024/25. While the 
council may be able to bid for external funding towards some works and projects, it 
will also require financial investment by the council. 

31. Initial delivery of the Beacon Development Action Plan is expected to cost circa 
£22,200 in addition to the marketing growth already underway. This comprises of 
£5,000 consultancy support to develop the Arts Strategy and £17,200 for a one-year 
0.4FTE fundraising post.  Officers will review the impact of the fundraising post in-
year. See Appendix 1 for a breakdown by action. This cost of this investment 
expected to be offset by the target income and savings the action plan could realise.  
 

Options  

32. The key areas under consideration are: 

 the proposed Beacon Development Action Plan in table 1 and Appendix 1  

 potential future operating models for The Beacon Appendix 2   

 the sequence in which any decisions should be implemented. 

Beacon Development Action Plan 

33. The commissioning of the BJA consultant report has been a valuable exercise in 
understanding the range of options other than direct delivery, which may be available 
to the council, including: 

 the running of the centre by an external organisation, for example a Charitable 
Incorporated Organisation (CIO) 

 an outsourced operator model. 

34. It is important that officers review the implications of each of these options in full and 
set out clearly to Members the associated implications of each option, including any 

Page 36



risks and future governance arrangements, noting that significant national funding 
routes have changed since the report was commissioned. 

35. Officers have developed a Beacon Development Action Plan that collates the 
recommendations and opportunities identified in the various consultant reviews, 
associated stakeholder consultations undertaken during the reviews and from the 
officer working group.  See table 1 for a list of the objectives, reason for inclusion and 
desired outcomes and Appendix 2 for the objectives, actions, measures, desired 
outcomes, responsible teams and target dates.   

36. Using the high-level objectives and actions in the Beacon Development Action Plan, 
officers will create an in-depth operational work plan detailing all tasks required to 
achieve the action plan objectives. The estimated cost of additional resources to 
deliver the action plan and achieve the income growth stated in Appendix 1 is 
£22,200. This has been included in the budget proposals for 2024/25.   

37. Officers will provide relevant stakeholders (as identified in the action plan) with 
regular progress updates and performance monitoring reports.  

38. Before drawing all of the recommendations into an overarching action plan officers 
had already begun implementing individual recommendations.  

39. Officers will provide cabinet with updates on the implementation and impact of the 
action plan during delivery. They will also provide an updated medium/long-term 
financial plan (MTFP) outlining the level of financial commitment required from the 
council to retain the centre as an in-house service following the implementation of the 
action plan, which will aid in evaluating the viability of any future alternative operating 
models being investigated to ensure best value is achieved.  

Page 37



Table 1 – summary of action plan objectives  

Action Plan Objective Reasons for inclusion Intended outcomes  Due by Started? 

Short Term (up to 9-12 months)   

Launch an Arts and Culture Strategy alongside the 
new corporate plan 

Place-shaping, communities and 
Partnerships, access for all. 

A clear vision, purpose and strategic direction and 
objectives for the council’s broader Arts and Culture 
provision, including The Beacon 

2024/25 
Q3 

Yes 
 

Increase the leadership capacity to provide direction 
and development of a new vision 

To ensure the action plan and intended 
outcomes are met  

Provide direction and the development of a new 
vision 

2024/25 
Q1-2 

Yes 

Produce a stakeholder map and extend the working 
group to become a strategic cross-council group  

To enable services to feed into the action 
plan, to ensure all parts of the council to 
understand the wider benefits of the Arts 

Create buy-in from across the council to deliver the 
vision for the Beacon 

2024/25 
Q1 

Yet to 
start 

Build relationships with local groupings including town 
centre partnerships, business networks and education 
providers  

Better understand the needs of the 
community, business, and education 
providers in the area and how the Beacon 
can best meet them; maximise opportunities 
to work together collaboratively 

Collaborative projects developed including wider 
funding opportunities; strong relationships with 
groups, schools, and local organisations in place  

2024/25 
Q3 

Yes 

Establish a community board that is fully 
representative of the emerging communities in 
Wantage and the wider district 

To help define and measure cultural and 
community aspirations 

To identify potential barriers to access for all 
communities 

2024/25 
Q2 

Yet to 
start 

Ensure the staff and volunteer team understand the 
equality, diversity and needs of the local community 

To ensure that the centre operates and the 
programme that is inclusive and appropriate  

To provide a suitably inclusive and accessible 
service for the community 

2024/25 
Q2 

 

Deliver an updated artistic and cultural offer 
Improve community benefit and audience 
engagement 

Improved programming built on the needs and 
desires of the community; improved relationship with 
artists and other art/culture providers; Improved 
positioning within the market and sales 

2024/25
Q4 

Yes 

Improve/increase community engagement to inform 
review of the artistic and cultural offer 

Improved programming to meet the needs 
and desires of the community; improved 
relationship with arts and culture providers 

Improved positioning within the market; improved 
sales  

2024/25 
Q3 

Yes 

Undertake discussions with Wantage Town Council 
regarding historic agreement and their levels of 
interest in a possible transfer of the venue  

To update terms of any agreement to reflect 
best interested of both parties; To confirm if 
the option of transferring the venue is viable 

Agreement reviewed and any revised terms 
formalised, clear indication if the Town Council are 
interest in taking on the venue.  

2024/25 
Q3 

Yet to 
start 

P
age 38



Action Plan Objective Reasons for inclusion Intended outcomes  Due by Status 

Obtain specialist marketing resources as required  
Develop team skills and capacity to develop 
the arts marketing strategy 

Marketing activities are showing positive impact on 
sales and income, marketing plans and activities are 
developed   

2024/25 
Q1 

Yes 

Implement a Marketing Strategy/plans  
Improved branding and marketing; improved 
signage   

Improved branding and marketing; improved 
signage; increase in ticket sales and memberships 

2024/25 
Q2 

Yes 

Implement pricing changes following a full review Improve commercial viability 

Improved market positioning, improved income 
generation, improved social value, continuing a 
range of pricing options that are affordable for 
different elements of the community 

2024/25 
Q1 

Yes 

Implement a Fundraising Strategy and secure 
fundraising resources for The Beacon 

Diversification of income streams Reduction in net cost to the council 
2024/25 
Q1 

Yet to 
start 

Maximise room/space utilisation and set occupancy 
targets  

Improved utilisation of services/spaces Improved income; improved social value  
2024/25 
Q2 

Yes 

Re-introduce a coffee shop and catering offer 
Improved Social Value, improve financial 
viability 

Improved social value; savings and income 
generation as a result of change in incentives and 
hours of operation 

2024/25 
Q4 

Yes 

Implement updated operational procedures  To improved centre operations Improved efficiency  
2024/25 
Q3 

Yes 

Medium Term (12-18 months)   

Introduce volunteers, friends, and ambassadors’ 
initiatives 

Community integration and engagement 
Improved social value, community links, value for 
money. 

2025/26 
Q1 

Yes 

Establish more robust performance monitoring and 
evaluation 

Management information on which to base 
decision making 

Ongoing service improvement; foundation for future 
options appraisal and funding applications 

2024/25 
Q3 

Yes 

Revisit viability of the major Decarbonisation Work 
and external funding opportunities 

Alignment with the Corporate Plan 
objectives 

Carbon savings, establish new baseline 
2025/26 
Q1 

Yes 

Work with Economic Development to establish a 
Social Value Calculator and targets for The Beacon 

Quantify social benefit of investment Improved measurement of impact 
2025/26 
Q1 

Yet to 
start 

     

P
age 39



     

Action Plan Objective  Reasons for inclusion Outcomes  Due by Status 

Long-Term (over 18 months and ongoing) 

Assess the impact of the action plan and how the 
revised in-house model compares to other possible 
operating models to ensure best value is achieved 

Optimising the inhouse model before 
comparisons are undertaken with other 
possible models, to ensure best value is 
achieved 

Optimised in-house model being delivered, updated 
forecasting projections prepared.  

2025/26 
Q4 

Yes 

Consider the councils ongoing financial commitment 
to The Beacon  

To ensure the council achieves best value in 
regard to delivery of the Beacon.   

Improved financial forecasting 
2025/26 
Q4 

Yet to 
start 

P
age 40



Possible Beacon operating models 

40. The Bryn Jones Associates business review outlined several possible operating 
models the council could consider for the centre that would require the council and 
South Oxfordshire District Council (South) to commit to a joint operating model at the 
same time. The three joint options are: 
  

 Joint in-house delivery 

 Joint external operator  

 Joint charitable organisation 

41. Depending on any future decision of each council and the timelines to implement 
their decisions they may be opportunities to consider joint operating models, if they 
are looking to progress the same operating model, in a similar time frame. This 
cannot be assumed possible at this time.   

42. The financial viability modelling for the options in the Bryn Jones Associates report 
were prepared using data from a fixed point in time, when the centre was still in the 
early stages of recovering from the Covid pandemic, and do not reflect the financial 
improvements that could be achieved by implementing the action plan.   

43. Appendix 2 provides an overview of each model together with their key implications, 
risks, and benefits. That Cabinet could consider during or following implementation of 
the action plan.   

44. Implementing the action plan will allow the council to establish the most efficient in-
house financial forecasts and meet their best value obligations, while keeping 
momentum moving on any long-term service delivery decisions.   

Other options 

45. Considering alternative operating models without/before implementing the 
improvement actions identified is not considered appropriate at this time. However, 
as the improvement actions are expected to make a significant impact on the net cost 
of the current service, fair consideration to those options can only be undertake once 
the initial period of the action plan has been implemented.  Progressing further 
investigations into potential future alternative operating models while the action plan 
is implemented will mean the council is prepared to move forward at pace if, when 
reviewed against the optimised in-house model, a different model is found to offer 
best value to the council when considered alongside the emerging corporate plan.  

46. Continuing with the service as it currently is, with no significant improvements is not 
considered a viable option given that all the reports commissioned, and officers have 
identified improvements in the way the centre can be operated.  There is a 
requirement within the Best Value legislation for officers to continually seek to 
improve outcomes and efficiency.  Not implementing improvement actions identified 
would mean opportunities for better service and financial returns are not realised.   

47. Undertaking market testing and further investigation on alternative operating models 
while implementing the action plan will mean the council will have both optimised 
modelling for the improved in-house model, and up to date viability data for the 
alternative models at the same time. 

Page 41



Financial Implications 

48. The forecast net cost of running the Beacon in 2023/24 is £0.46 million.   The 
benefits of the operational improvements achieved to date have largely been offset 
by inflationary increases in utilities and other financial pressures linked to the 
significant increase in the cost of living crisis.  Consequently, net costs for the 
Beacon have not significantly reduced.  Officers are confident that the investment 
required to deliver the action plan will reduce the annual net cost to the council, 
predominantly through a greater focus on income generation and external funding 
bids that reflect the current national funding regimes that have stabilised over the 
past two years. 

49. Recent reviews and investigations into industry comparators indicate that it is unlikely 
that a staffed venue like The Beacon can generate enough through ticket sales, hire 
and café/bar sales to cover the full operating costs.  The Beacon will therefore likely 
need to rely on financial support to continue delivering the benefit it offers to the 
community. Implementing the action plan should maximise income opportunities and 
reduce the level of financial contribution required from the Council.  

50. The current forecast net cost in 2024/25 is £430,094. This includes additional 
marketing investment already underway and an income growth target equal to 10 per 
cent more than the best previous year. The growth target represents the income 
growth and savings expected as a result of the additional marketing activity and 
action plan delivery.  The income growth suggested (see Appendix 5) shows the cost 
saving were all actions and additional activity being delivered from the 1 April 2024.  
The actual savings will be tracked through the financial year as actions are delivered.   

51. Officers modelled the current medium-term financial forecast for the centre using the 
current proposed budget for 2024/25, with indicative inflationary growth applied.  This 
will be updated once the budget for 2024/5 has been set by Council and regularly 
reviewed with finance colleagues as officers work through the action plan.  The 
objective is to see income increase beyond the previous best achievable levels and 
subsequently reduce the net cost as much as possible. Officers note that resources 
across many service areas are in high demand and availability may impact delivery of 
the actions within target timescales. 

52. The 2024/25 target net cost includes increased income levels following additional 
marketing investment already in progress.  

53. By implementing the other improvements in the action plan the council would position 
the centre on a trajectory that could see its net cost continue to reduce in future 
years.   

54. In 2024/25 a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) proposal has been submitted for 
£100,000 to make fire safety improvements in the centre.  
 

55. Other capital works identified for the centre that will be considered in future years 
include:  
 

o re-roofing the building  
o replacement passenger lift 
o refurbishment of the toilets 
o refurbishment of backstage and dressing rooms 

Page 42



o refitting the kitchen 
o general refurbishment of all public areas  
o equipment replacement and improvements 
o reconfiguration of ground floor to improve hireable space and flow 
o external branding improvements (see Appendix 3 for initial ideas) 

 
56. By investing additional resources to implement the action plan, the council will ensure 

the in-house operating model is working at optimal efficiency in the long-term, 
maximising income opportunities, using existing resources to the best of their 
potential, increasing the community benefit delivered, and minimising the net cost to 
the council.  The current estimated cost to deliver the action plan is £22,200, which is 
expected to be offset by the target income growth and savings the action plan could 
realise.  This cost has been included in the proposed budget for 2024/25.  The 
income growth suggested (see Appendix 5) shows the cost saving were all actions 
and additional activity being delivered from the 1 April 2024. The actual savings will 
be tracked through the financial year as actions are delivered.   

57. While some of the staffing resources required to implement the plan can be provided 
using the existing team, including the recently advertised Head of Communities and 
Community Arts Manager posts, this may result in capacity deficits elsewhere in the 
centre’s delivery.  Should this occur, the council will likely need to buy-in expert 
knowledge to achieve the best outcomes, and the existing team may require 
additional training and development to maximise their potential on a long-term basis.  

58. Key actions in the plan include securing external funding for the centre, which cannot 
be guaranteed in advance, and should not be included in future budgets until it is 
secured. If funding is secured, it is likely to be for specific projects that will require 
some level of matched funding.  In these instances, officers would include the full 
cost to deliver in the expenditure budget proposal until funding is secured, when the 
funding income would be off set against the expenditure budget, reducing the cost to 
the council of that activity.     

Legal and Property Implications 

59. Legal implications of implementing the overall action plan are minimal at present, but 
individual actions may have their own implications, which will be assessed and 
mitigated as they are implemented.  Officers will work with colleagues in Legal to 
identify and resolve any legal implications for individual actions identified.   

60. Reviewing the agreement terms with Wantage Town Council regarding their 
occupancy of the Beacon will require legal, finance and strategic property resources 
to complete.  It is expected the review of the current terms will be led by the strategic 
property team and it should be noted that any changes would require both parties to 
be in agreement. 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

61. Separate to any future decisions about The Beacon’s ongoing operating model, the 
council has undertaken a decarbonisation survey that identified some minor and 
major decarbonisation improvements to help reduce the building’s carbon footprint.  
While the major works are on hold for budget reasons, keeping the service in-house 
will make implementing them in the future more sensitive to operational and 

Page 43



community need.  Minor improvements recommended in the survey are already 
being implemented for the venue.  

62. Operating model options that are not managed in house will have reduced 
opportunity to implement the council’s strategic objectives including action on the 
climate emergency and would be likely to have less access to national Government 
funding for such schemes. 

63. Officers will apply the councils’ Climate Impact Assessment tool for each action within 
the action plan as they are implemented to ensure any reasonable adjustments taken 
to contribute to the council’s climate and carbon neutral goals.    

64. If Cabinet decide to progress an alternative operator option in future, officers will seek 
to incorporate all reasonable climate and energy saving terms and KPI’s within the 
scope of any future arrangements.  

 

Equalities implications 

65. As each action is developed officers will consider the equality implications, undertake 
Equality Impact Assessments and put mitigations in place if appropriate.   

Risks and Mitigations 

66. That the action plan is not delivered within the proposed timescale. Regular progress 
and performance reviews with the relevant Head of Service, officer working group 
and corporate programmes team to ensure timelines are monitored. 

67. That there are insufficient resources to complete all actions identified in the action 
plan, reducing the overall impact achieved. If there are insufficient resources 
(financial or time) to carry out all actions within the timeline, the officers working 
group will prioritise the actions that provide the best value.  

68. That the action plan does not have the expected impact on the performance of the 
centre, either in terms of improved benefit to the community or financially viability. 
The planned regular review of actions being implemented will allow officers to 
forecast the impact they will have, as will research officers will undertake before 
implementation starts.  

69. If the Council were to resolve to transfer future operation of the Beacon to an 
alternative model (whether this is a charitable organisation or a contract provider) 
there are variable risks around the council’s options.  For example, the council may 
not be able to bring the operation back inhouse, if it has proven unviable financially 
for an operator to deliver due to best value standards. If an external operating model 
were identified for progression specialist advice regarding the council’s stepping-in 
rights would be sought as part of the further investigation and viability work.  

70. That the council resolves to find an existing entity to take on operation of the centre, 
but no viable operators come forward or those that do express interest do not 
represent value for money.  If, during market testing, officers are unable to identify 
any potential operators with the knowledge or experience required to operate the 
centre they will bring this to cabinet’s attention so alternative options could be 
considered, with the default position being that operation remains the improved 
inhouse model being developed via the action plan.  

Page 44



71. That the existing Town Council agreement and occupancy causes adds complexity to 
the process of moving to an alternative operator model, should one of these models 
offer best value to the council.  The Council’s property team need to engage with the 
Town Council at this time in order to be able to explore options of achieving a 
satisfactory resolution. 

Other Implications 

72. There may be some HR implications connected to delivery of the action plan, 
especially around developing skills and knowledge in the team, and potentially when 
bringing in additional resources to assist in implementation.  Officers will work with 
HR colleagues to assess specific HR implications for each action as they are 
implemented.   

73. If Cabinet decide to move to an alternative operator model in the future, there would 
be HR implications. These could vary depending on the option chosen.  Managing 
these implications and their impact of the team would require support from HR 
colleagues and could incur additional costs to the council. Details of the specific HR 
implications for each option are outlined within their respective overviews. 

74. Officers have met and will continue to meet with the centre’s staff to ensure they are 
aware of the process The Beacon is going through, the proposed action plan, how it 
could impact on operational delivery and that they will have an opportunity to 
contribute and buy into the future plans for the centre.  

Conclusions  

75. After reviewing all of the consultants’ reports and consultation feedback gathered 
during the reviews, and opinions of the officers’ working group there appears to be 
several improvements the council can implement to improve The Beacon’s 
performance, many of which have already begun implementation.  The various 
improvements have been gathered into an action plan for officers to work through.  

76. While the council should consider possible alternatives to in-house delivery, it should 
first do all it can to ensure the in-house model is operating to its best potential, by 
endorsing the action plan.  

77. Establishing a clear understanding of the Council’s stepping-in rights in connection to 
any potential external operating model is essential before the council make any 
formal commitment.   

78. Officers will work with the Corporate Programmes Team to report and monitor 
delivery of the action plan. The centre team will also provide regular updates to the 
officer working group, cabinet members and other key stakeholder groups outlining 
progress of the implementation and measures of the impact for each action.  

Background Papers 

79. None 

Page 45



APPENDIX  1 – PROPOSED BEACON DEVELOPMENT ACTION PLAN 

Ref Objective Activities  Outcomes  Responsibility  Measures 
Est cost to 
deliver 

Complete by 
date  

1.  
Launch an Arts and Culture 
Strategy alongside the new 
corporate plan 

1. Develop a stakeholder map and explore barriers to 
access, 2. Draft Arts and Culture Strategy to be 
aligned with other council policies; 3. Engagement with 
stakeholders including cabinet, council, DGT boards 
and the wider community  

Clear vision, purpose and 
strategic objectives for The 
Beacon within the broader Arts 
and Culture Strategy  

Community Wellbeing 
including DGT team, 
Comms for 
engagement  

Strategy agreed by 
cabinet 

Met by in-house 
team and £5,000 
consultancy 
support in budget 
growth proposal 

Within 12 
months 

2.  

Increase the leadership 
capacity to provide direction 
and development of a new 
vision 

Identify resources needed, recruitment/procurement of 
external resources as needed, development of 
direction/vision for Art Centre, Launch new vision. 

Development and provision of a 
new vision for the arts centre 

Head of Communities 
Resources secured and 
direction provided 

Met by current 
budget proposals  

Within 12 
months 

3.  

Produce a stakeholder map 
and extend the working 
group to become a strategic 
cross-council group, which 
allows all parts of the 
council to understand the 
wider benefits of the Arts  

Workshop with working group to identify additional 
internal stakeholder, invite additional stakeholders to 
join the working group, work with all stakeholders to 
improve cohesion across services 

Create buy-in from across the 
council to deliver the vision 
 

Arts Centres team and 
wider stake holder 
group 

Working group extended, 
stakeholder map 
prepared, improved 
understanding of The 
Beacon’s benefit across 
the council. 

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources 

Within 12 
months 

4.  

Build relationships with local 
groupings including town 
centre partnerships, 
business networks and 
education providers  

Identify groups and organisations to engage with, 
workshops to establish links and opportunities 

To identify potential areas of 
collaboration (including around 
funding opportunities)  

Communities team 

Improved engagement 
with external groups, 
Collaborative activities 
undertaken 

Met by in-house 
team  

Within 12 
months 

5.  

Establish a Community 
Board that is fully 
representative of the 
emerging communities in 
and around Wantage 

(Linked to action 3) Develop a community engagement 
strategy, implement community engagement strategy 

To identify potential barriers to 
access for all communities 

Arts Centres team 

Improved links with 
communities in and 
around Wantage, 
improved programming  

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources 

Within 12 
months 

6.  

Ensure the staff and 
volunteer team understand 
the equality, diversity and 
needs of the community 

Identify the knowledge levels required for the team, 
draw up and implement a training and development 
plan to fill any knowledge gaps 

To provide a suitably inclusive 
and accessible service for the 
community 

Arts Centre Team 
All staff and volunteers 
have completed any 
necessary training 

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources 

Within 12 
months 

7.  
Deliver an updated artistic 
and cultural offer 

1. Review external funding for a curated programme  
2. Engagement with other Arts/Culture Venues/groups 
3 Develop partnerships with performers/community 
groups, 5. Consider changes to meet wider health, 
wellbeing, educational needs and also daytime offer 6. 
Review the customer journey  

Improved programming built on 
the needs and desires of the 
community; improved relationship 
with artists and other art/culture 
providers; Improved positioning 
within the market; improved sales  

Arts Centre Team 

All actions implemented 
and positive 
improvement on 
community benefit, 
income generation and 
customer feedback  

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources and/or 
through external 
funding if secured 

Within 12 
months 

 

P
age 46



Ref Objective Activities  Outcomes  Responsibility  Measures 
Est cost to 
deliver 

Complete by 
date  

8.  

Improve/increase 
community engagement to 
inform review of the artistic 
and cultural offer 

Achieved via stakeholder mapping and community 
board actions above  

Improved positioning within the 
market; improved sales; 
improved social value 

Communities with 
Consultation team 
support 

Improved customer 
feedback and uptake of 
activities 

Met through 
existing resources 

Within 12 
months 

 

9.  

Undertake discussions with 
Wantage Town Council 
regarding historic 
agreement concerning the 
Beacon and their level of 
interest in a possible 
transfer of the venue 

Identify any terms of the existing agreements the 
council wishes to renegotiate, and possible transfer of 
ownership offer 
Initiate engagement with the town council to gauge 
interest in a transfer option, and/or to negotiate new 
agreement terms.  
Complete revised agreement and terms 
Report back the town council’s level of interest in 
potential transfer, to be incorporated into any future 
decision making on the operating model for delivery of 
The Beacon. 

Report to cabinet on outcomes of 
these discussions 

Legal and Property 
teams, with input from 
arts centres 
management team 

Agreement reviewed and 
any revised terms 
formalised (if applicable), 
clear indication if the 
Town Council are 
interest in taking on the 
venue 

Delivered by in-
house team 

Within 12 
months 

10.  
Obtain specialist marketing 
resources as required  

Recruitment/commission 
Address skills gap, resource to 
develop the arts marketing 
strategy  

HR/relevant HoS  
Link between marketing 
and bookings/ ticket 
sales improved  

Recruitment being 
undertaken.  

Within 12 
months 

11.  
Implement a Marketing 
Strategy/plans  

1. Develop an art and specific strategy including 
mapping of potential users, 2. Determine a realistic 
budget 3. Review Website and branding 4. Address 
disconnects between marketing and ticketing 5. Cross 
promotion and upselling  

Improved branding and 
marketing; improved signage; 
increase in ticket sales and 
memberships 

Arts Centre Team, 
Comms  

 Marketing strategy 
adopted,  

Cost met from in-
house team  

Within 12 
months 

12.  
Implement pricing changes 
following a full review 

1. Review ticket pricing, memberships, and room hire 
pricing, 2. consider competitors and other council 
facilities, 3. discount approach and donating spare 
tickets to VCSOs to generate social value  

Improved market positioning: 
Improved income generation, 
Improved social value  

Finance and Arts 
centre team 

 Revised pricing rolled 
out. New pricing policy in 
place. 

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources 

Within 18 
months  

13.  

Implement a Fundraising 
Strategy and secure 
fundraising resources for 
The Beacon 

1. Mapping potential sources of external funding 
including, trusts and foundations, corporate 
sponsorships, memberships; council pots;2. Explore 
partnership bids 3. Link with marketing strategy 4. 
Explore friends/fundraising board  

Diversification of income 
streams; reduction in the centres’ 
net cost to the council  

Arts Centre Staff, 
external bid writer,  

 External funding bids 
submitted 

fundraising post 
£17,200 0.4FTE 
1yr Fixed term 
(initially)  

Within 12 
months 

14.  
Maximise room/space 
utilisation and set realistic 
targets  

1. Explore co-working hub, 2. Engage with co-working 
hub operator, engage with current and prospective 
room hires including businesses via econ dev  
4. review opening hours, 5. Consider room separation 
for temporary or permanent occupation, 6. Set Targets 
for utilisation, 7. Optimise use of space/behaviours and 
other low-cost activities to maximise energy efficiency 
 

Improved utilisation of 
services/spaces; improved 
income; improved social value  

Arts centre team and 
Development and 
Corporate Landlord 

Targets identified and 
being met, Positive 
impact on finances, 
appropriate works to 
improve useable space 
undertaken. 

Operational 
improvements 
from inhouse 
team, capital 
works pending 
future funding bids 

Within 12 
months 

P
age 47



Ref Objective Activities  Outcomes  Responsibility  Measures 
Est cost to 
deliver 

Complete by 
date  

15.  
Re-introduce a coffee shop 
and catering offer 

1. Explore a combined reception/coffee shop servery 
2. Engage with potential independent and 3rd sector 
operators; and catering providers for functions 
3. Research menus and pricing options 

Improved social value; savings 
and income generation because 
of change in incentives and hours 
of operation  

Arts centre team and 
Development and 
Corporate Landlord 

 Review complete and 
findings reported on and 
actioned appropriately  

Resource from 
existing budget 

Within 12 
months 

16.  
Review operational 
procedures and partnership 
working within the council  

1, Identify services/areas where there are operational 
challenges using existing corporate processes to 
deliver arts centre operations, 2. establish review 
process with key officers in other teams to identify 
ways to improve both the centres and corporate 
processes and policies to improve efficiency  
3. implement new processes and monitor their impact 

Improved efficiency and 
compliance with wider council 
rules and policies. 

Arts Centre Staff 

Improved working 
efficiency 
 
Corporate and centre 
policies/ processes align 
better  

Met through house 
resources 
 

Within 12 
months 

17.  
Volunteers, ambassadors 
and friends’ initiative  

1. Develop/review volunteering and ambassador 
scheme, 2. Consider ‘Friends of’ Committee 
 

Improved social value; improved 
community links; improved value 
for money; improved 
programming  

 Arts Centre Staff (with 
communities’ team)   

 Recruitment of 
volunteers/ambassadors, 
analysis of a Friends 
scheme completed.   

Met through house 
resources 
 

Within 18 
months  

18.  
Performance monitoring and 
evaluation 

1. Monitor performance against the strategic objectives  
2. Monitor delivery of the action plan, 3. Develop a 
daily online/in person Customer feedback system, 4. 
Run annual survey, 5. introduce KPI's for service 
delivery and regularly report on performance 

Ongoing improvement of the 
service; sound basis for future 
options appraisal; important for 
funding applications 

Arts Centre Staff (with 
Corporate Plan 
Reporting team)  

reporting to interim board 

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources.  
 
 

Within 18 
months  

19.  
Revisit viability of the major 
Decarbonisation Work 

1.research funding opportunities in addition to the 
SALIX funding, 2. review the feasibility of the proposed 
works and projected savings, 3. if viable for 
progression, apply for funding and if secured, procure 
relevant contractors  

Carbon savings, establish new 
baseline 

Corporate Landlord  
 Project completed, 
improved energy 
efficiency 

Met through house 
resources 
 

Within 18 
months  

20.  

Work with Economic 
Development to establish a 
Social Value Calculator and 
targets for The Beacon 

Explore the use of social value calculator Improved measurement of impact Communities Team  
separate service value 
from operational costs 

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources 

Within 18 
months  

21.  

Assess the impact of the 
action plan and how the 
revised in-house model 
compares to other possible 
operating models to ensure 
best value is achieved 

1. produce detailed feasibility studies any alternative 
models selected for further consideration, 2. prepare 
updated and detailed financial projections for any 
alternative operating options and an optimised in-
house option, 3. Cabinet and council to take a formal 
decision on a future service delivery model 

Optimised in-house model being 
delivered, updated forecasting 
projections prepared.  

Cabinet and Council  
 Full council decision in 
place  

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources 

April 2025 

22.  
Consider the councils 
ongoing financial 
commitment to The Beacon 

Update financial forecasting for The Beacon reflecting 
the impact of the actions delivered.  Update financial 
modelling for the inhouse and possible alternative 
models, consider which model offers best value to the 
council, agree a funding approach for the Beacon that 
minimises net cost and offers flexibility for the future.  

Improved financial forecasting Cabinet and Council  
Future funding approach 
agreed for The Beacon 

Met through 
existing in-house 
resources 

April 2025 

P
age 48



APPENDIX 2 – POTENTIAL OPERATING MODELS – CONFIDENTIAL 

 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
Not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 2 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
The public interest in maintaining this exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information. 

 
Due to the confidential nature of this report, it will not be published publicly, but will 
be circulated as a separate attacghment to appropriate members and officers.   

Page 49



APPENDIX 3 – EXTERNAL BRANDING INITIAL PROPOSALS 

Page 50



APPENDIX 4 – WANTAGE TOWN COUNCIL AGREEMENT OVERVIEW – 

CONFIDENTIAL 

 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
Not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The public 
interest in maintaining this exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information. 

 
Due to the confidential nature of this report, it will not be published publicly, but will 
be circulated as a separate attachment to appropriate members and officers.   

 

Page 51



APPENDIX 5 – FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 

The tables and charts below reflect direct running costs and income only from 
2015/16 to 2022/23 and forecast figures for 2023/24 and 2024/25.   They do not 
include support service recharges, or year-end accounting adjustments for, for 
example, depreciation. Marketing costs were separated from the centre’s main 
budget in 2021/22 and are show separately from that point onwards.  
 

The direct costs have been separated into the following categories:  
 

• Beacon staff costs  

• other direct costs, such as building operation costs, cost to deliver the arts 
activities 

• marketing costs (staff and activities).  The marketing costs reflect both the 
staff costs and other marketing expenditure budget 

• income generated by the centre 

• total net cost to the council. 
 

 

All budget projections for 2024/25 have been updated throughout the budget setting 
process and are subject to Council’s formal approval of the 2024/25 budget. 

The target budget for 2024/25 includes income growth equivalent to 10 per cent of 
the best income achieved to date (in 2018/19).  This target includes the additional 
income and savings expected to be achieved through the council’s investment in 
delivering the action plan and increasing marketing provision.  

The income budget for 2024/25 was set to show the potential impact on income the 
investment in the action plan delivery and additional marketing activity should have.   
It shows the cost saving were all actions and additional activity being delivered from 
the 1 April 2024.  The actual savings will be tracked through the financial year as 
actions are delivered.   

Page 52



Staff costs within the budget proposals include indicative inflationary increases that 
have yet to be agreed when the 2024/25 budget is set by Council. Once the budget 
for 2024/25 is set these table and forecasts will be updated. 

 
 

Page 53



APPENDIX 6 - ARTISAN BUILDING OPTIONS APPRASIAL - 
CONFIDENTIAL 

 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
Not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The public 
interest in maintaining this exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information. 

 
Due to the confidential nature of this report, it will not be published publicly, but will 
be circulated as a separate attachment to appropriate members and officers.   

 

Page 54



APPENDIX 7 – BRYN JONES ASSOCIATES BUSINESS OPTIONS 
APPRAISAL CONFIDENTIAL 
 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
Not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 2 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
The public interest in maintaining this exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information. 

 
Due to the confidential nature of this report, it will not be published publicly, but will 
be circulated as a separate attachment to appropriate members and officers.   
 

Page 55



 

Page 56



Document is Restricted

Page 57

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 80

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 110

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes
	Vale scrutiny minutes of 05-12-23
	Minutes
	Sc29 NHS Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire Integrated Care Board - community services engagement


	6 Work schedule and dates for all Vale and Joint scrutiny meetings
	9 Future direction of The Beacon, Wantage
	Beacon cabinet report - 23 Jan 2024 V6
	Confidential Beacon cabinet report - Appendix 2 - Operating model options v3
	Confidential Beacon cabinet report appendix 4 - Wantage Town Council agreement terms v1
	Confidential Beacon cabinet report appendix 6 - Artisan building options appraisal v2
	Confidential Beacon cabinet report appendix 7 - BJA Cornerstone  Beacon Options Appraisal January 2023 FINAL


